
August 24, 2023, Regular Meeting of the KYMEA
Board of Directors

8/24/2023

Board Room at 10 AM

1700 Eastpoint Pkwy Suite 220

Louisville, 40223

This meeting will also be available as a TEAMs video meeting (contact mhixon@kymea.org for
attendee information).



1. Attendance  Michelle Hixon

2. Call to Order  Josh Callihan

AA. . Meeting OpeningMeeting Opening  

BB. . Previous Meeting Minutes of the KYMEA Board of DirectorsPrevious Meeting Minutes of the KYMEA Board of Directors Approval of Last
Month's Meeting
Minutes

Josh Callihan

1. CEO  Doug Buresh

2. Market Report  Rob Leesman

3. Member Communications  Michelle Hixon

EE. . Administration ReportsAdministration Reports  

1. Energy and Capacity RFP Motion to approve the
resolution regarding
publication of an
Energy and Capacity
RFP.

2. Financial Advisor Engagement Letter Motion to approve the
President and CEO,
Doug Buresh, to sign
the engagement
letter.

3. RICE Interconnection and Siting Studies Motion to approve the
resolution for
interconnection and
siting studies related
to recent RFPs.

GG. . Action ItemsAction Items  

3. Guest Introductions  Josh Callihan

CC. . Financial ReportsFinancial Reports Approval of Last
Month's Financial
Report

Heather
Overby

DD. . Committee ReportsCommittee Reports
None Expected

 

4. CFO Report  Heather
Overby

FF. . Discussion TopicsDiscussion Topics  

HH. . Public CommentsPublic Comments
This is an opportunity for members of the public to provide input to the
KYMEA Board and is limited to 5 minutes per speaker.

 Josh Callihan

II. . Upcoming Meetings and Other BusinessUpcoming Meetings and Other Business
The next board meeting will be held on September 28th at 10 am in
KYMEA's board room.

 Michelle Hixon

JJ. . AdjournmentAdjournment  Josh Callihan

Meeting Book - August 24, 2023 Regular Meeting of the KYMEA Board of DirectorsMeeting Book - August 24, 2023 Regular Meeting of the KYMEA Board of Directors

AgendaAgenda

Page 2 of 78



 

 

Minutes for Meeting Book - August 10, 2023 Speci... | 1 

 

Minutes for Meeting Book - August 10, 2023, Special Meeting of the 

KYMEA Board of Directors 

08/10/2023 | 10:00 AM  

Board Room at 10 AM 

Attendees (8) 

Josh Callihan; Ron Herd; Kevin Howard; Philip King; Tim Lyons; Chris Melton; Jamie Miller; 

Gary Zheng 

Additional attendees were Doug Buresh, Rob Leesman, Michelle Hixon, Heather Overby, 

Molly Roesler, Charlie Musson, David Denton, Travis McCullar, Pat Pace, Brown Thornton, 

Hance Price, Tom Trauger, Fred Haddad, John Snyder, and Brad Kushner. 

Meeting Opening 

1. Attendance: a quorum was noted.  

2. Call to Order  

3. Guest Introductions: Chairman Callihan noted that KYMEA received a letter from the 

City of Madisonville naming Brad Porter as the Madisonville Alternate Director. 

Previous Meeting Minutes of the KYMEA Board of Directors 

ACTION: Motion to approve July 27, 2023, Board meeting minutes was made by Chris 

Melton and seconded by Gary Zheng. Jamie Miller abstained. The motion passed.   

 

Discussion Topics 

No topics were discussed in the open session. 

Public Comments 

No public comments were made. 

Upcoming Meetings and Other Business 

The next regular board meeting will be held on August 24, 2023, at 10 am in KYMEA's board 

room. 

Closed Session 

Page 3 of 78



 

 

Minutes for Meeting Book - August 10, 2023 Speci... | 2 

ACTION: Motion to enter into closed session was made by Jamie Miller and seconded 

by Ron Herd. The motion passed.   

 

ACTION: Motion to return to open session was made by Ron Herd and seconded by 

Chris Melton. The motion passed.   

 

Actions Related to Matters Discussed in Closed Session 

ACTION: Ron Herd made a motion to approve the attached resolution to publish an 

RFP for RICE engines, and Chris Melton gave a second motion.  

 

Josh Callihan  Aye 

Mayor King  Aye 

Kevin Howard Aye 

Ron Herd  Aye 

Gary Zheng  No 

Chris Melton  Aye 

Tim Lyons   Abstained 

Jamie Miller  Aye 

 

The motion passed.   

 

Adjournment  

ACTION: Motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Jamie Miller and seconded by 

Chris Melton. The motion passed and the meeting was adjourned.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

X

Chairperson

   

X

Secre ta ry

Page 4 of 78



KYMEA President & CEO Report
Doug Buresh

August 24, 2023
8/22/2023 www.KYMEA.org 1
KYMEA_Board_Presentation_August_2023_CEO_08-24-2023_R3.pptx Page 5 of 78



AGENDA

• Ashwood Video Media Materials
• Falmouth 69 kV Transmission
• RICE Power Plant RFP
• IRP2023 Decision Timeline

8/22/2023 www.KYMEA.org 2
Page 6 of 78



Ashwood Video Media Materials

8/22/2023 www.KYMEA.org 3

Ground-Breaking
1. One Main 1-Minute Video

• To be posted on KYMEA Website

2. Three 15-Second Social Media Clips
• To be posted on KYMEA’s LinkedIn Account

Note: Video Media Release pending RWE approval

Page 7 of 78



Ashwood Ground-Breaking Video

8/22/2023 www.KYMEA.org 4
Page 8 of 78



AGENDA

• Ashwood Video Media Materials
• Falmouth 69 kV Transmission
• RICE Power Plant RFP
• IRP2023 Decision Timeline

8/22/2023 www.KYMEA.org 5
Page 9 of 78



Falmouth 69 kV Line

8/22/2023 www.KYMEA.org 6

• Met with Mayor Ernst and Falmouth staff regarding 
rebuild of 69 kV Transmission Line

• Falmouth has formed a committee to investigate next 
steps

• KYMEA is assisting Falmouth on evaluating possible 
solutions

Page 10 of 78



AGENDA

• Ashwood Video Media Materials
• Falmouth 69 kV Transmission
• RICE Power Plant RFP
• IRP2023 Decision Timeline

8/22/2023 www.KYMEA.org 7
Page 11 of 78



RICE Power Plant RFP
RFP Issued August 14th

• Option 1: Single Fuel RICE Engine Generators- Natural Gas Only with Associated 

Auxiliaries

• Option 2: Dual Fuel RICE Engine Generators- Natural Gas and Ultra-Low Sulfur 

Diesel (“ULSD”) Fuels with Associated Auxiliaries

• Option 3: Purchase of additional RICE Engine Generator Sets with Associated 

Auxiliaries

• Option 4: Purchase of a Long-Term Service Agreement (“LTSA”) for all RICE Engine 

Generator Sets with Associated Auxiliaries Provided

• Option 5: Purchase of Operations and Maintenance Services from the Original 

Equipment Manufacturer

8/22/2023 8www.KYMEA.org
Page 12 of 78



AGENDA

• Ashwood Video Media Materials
• Falmouth 69 kV Transmission
• RICE Power Plant RFP
• IRP2023 Decision Timeline

8/22/2023 www.KYMEA.org 9
Page 13 of 78



IRP2023 Decision Timeline

8/22/2023 10

Date Meeting Decision/Action

Aug 24 Regular Board Meeting Capacity/Energy RFP Issued (Aug 25)

Sep 28 Regular Board Meeting Board approves RICE E&C RFP (To be issued week of Oct 9)

Oct 9 Receive Results of RICE and Capacity/Energy RFPs
Oct 9 - Oct 13 IRP2023 Evaluation Period

Oct 17 Special Generation
 Board Meeting Present IRP2023 Results

Oct 26 Regular Board Meeting If Board votes to advance the RICE Project forward
• Select Investment Bank
• Create Generation Participant Committee

Nov 15 Special Board Meeting No Action Expected

Dec 6 Receive Results of RICE E&C RFP
Dec 6 - Dec 12 IRP2023 Evaluation Period

Dec 13 Special Board Meeting Present IRP2023 Results

Jan 10 Special Board Meeting If Board selects RICE Project
• Authorize CEO signing of RICE and Engineering & Construction 

contracts post consultant due diligence review
• AR Project and Board votes to add RICE PPA to Schedule B 

after contracts are signed
• Participants sign RICE Participation Agreement

Jan 25 Regular Board Meeting Authorize issuance of bonds to finance project

www.KYMEA.org

Preliminary – Subject to Change

Page 14 of 78



July 2023 Market Report

Rob Leesman

August 24, 2023
8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 1
KYMEA_Board_Presentation_July_2023_Market_Report_8-24-2023.pptx Page 15 of 78



https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/temp-and-precip/us-maps/

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 2
Page 16 of 78

https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/temp-and-precip/us-maps/


Degree Days

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 3
Page 17 of 78



AR Load July 2023

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 4
Page 18 of 78



Non-AR Load July 2023

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 5
Page 19 of 78



July 2023 Snapshot

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 6

Member

Budget 

Energy 

(MWh)

Actual 

Energy 

(MWh)

Actual vs. 

Budget 

Energy

Budget 

NCP 

(MW)

Actual 

NCP 

(MW)

Actual 

vs. 

Budget 

NCP Timestamp (HE EST)

Barbourville 8,789       8,310       95% 18.84 18.70 99% 7/28/2023 5:00:00 PM

Bardwell 966          915          95% 2.09 1.99 95% 7/28/2023 3:00:00 PM

Benham 441          424          96% 0.98 1.01 103% 7/28/2023 5:00:00 PM

Berea 11,804      12,045      102% 24.89 24.93 100% 7/28/2023 5:00:00 PM

Corbin 8,696       8,313       96% 18.40 18.44 100% 7/28/2023 4:00:00 PM

Falmouth 1,927       1,899       99% 4.20 4.25 101% 7/27/2023 4:00:00 PM

Frankfort 66,947      62,488      93% 132.70 131.27 99% 7/27/2023 4:00:00 PM

Madisonville 31,545      27,934      89% 60.51 58.73 97% 7/28/2023 3:00:00 PM

Owensboro 83,372      85,523      103% 177.00 180.00 102%

Paris 6,004       5,490       91% 13.12 11.73 89% 7/26/2023 4:00:00 PM

Providence 3,230       2,865       89% 6.76 6.79 101% 7/28/2023 4:00:00 PM

AR 128,103    118,215    92% 256.63 251.90 98%

Non-AR 12,245      12,468      102% 25.87 25.95 100%

All 140,349    130,683    93% 282.49 277.85 98%

Total 223,721    216,206    97% 459.49 457.85 100%

Jul-23

Page 20 of 78



BREC PPA Load Capacity Factor FY 24

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 7
Page 21 of 78



BREC PPA PFR Capacity Factor FY 24

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 8
Page 22 of 78



BREC PPA Capacity Factor FY 24

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 9
Page 23 of 78



BREC Option Capacity Factor FY 24

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 10
Page 24 of 78



DEI PPA Load Capacity Factor FY 24

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 11
Page 25 of 78



DEI PPA PFR Capacity Factor FY 24

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 12
Page 26 of 78



DEI Capacity Factor FY 24

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 13
Page 27 of 78



PPS PPA Capacity Factor FY 24

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 14
Page 28 of 78



SEPA Capacity Factor FY 24

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 15
Page 29 of 78



Ashwood Capacity Factor FY 24

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 16
Page 30 of 78



KYMEA AR Energy Mix

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 17
Page 31 of 78



KYMEA AR Energy Mix FY 24

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 18
Page 32 of 78



Working Gas in Storage (6-30-23)

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 19
Page 33 of 78



Natural Gas Spot Prices

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 20
Page 34 of 78



Total Rig Count

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 21
Page 35 of 78



Indiana Hub ATC

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 22
Page 36 of 78



Texas Eastern Transmission East Louisiana Zone

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 23
Page 37 of 78



Texas Eastern Transmission East Louisiana Zone

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 24
Page 38 of 78



Historical Pricing

8/14/2023 www.KYMEA.org 25
Page 39 of 78



Member Communications

8/21/2023 www.KYMEA.org 1

Michelle Hixon

August 24, 2023

KYMEA_Board_Presentation_August_2023_Member_Communications_08-24-2023.pptx Page 40 of 78



Dates to Remember

8/21/2023 www.KYMEA.org 2

September
20th at 5:30 PM KY Chamber Annual Meeting
28th at 8:30 AM BROC Meeting
28th at 10 AM Regular Meeting of the KYMEA Board of 

Directors

October
26th at 10 AM Regular Meeting of the KYMEA Board of 

Directors

Page 41 of 78



Public Power Week 2023

8/21/2023 www.KYMEA.org 3

OCTOBER 1-7

Download free resources here.

Page 42 of 78

https://www.publicpower.org/event/public-power-week#event-1


E-ISAC Physical Security Regional Workshop

8/21/2023 www.KYMEA.org 4

October 4th 
View details and register here.

Page 43 of 78

https://web.cvent.com/event/17009a28-6f48-4ab5-b665-0ba77d2919e6/summary


KYMEA Capacity and Energy RFP
August 24, 2023

8/22/2023 1
KYMEA_Board_Capacity_Energy_RFP_08-24-2023_R1.pptx

www.KYMEA.org
Page 44 of 78



Resource Needs

8/22/2023 www.KYMEA.org 2

Su
m

m
er

W
in

te
r

107 MW TBD

63 MW TBD

45 MW TBD

115 MW of Firm MISO PTP

Page 45 of 78



Capacity and Energy RFP

8/22/2023 3

Dispatchable Capacity and Energy RFP
1. 3-Year Term

• 50 MW up to 115 MW
• June 1, 2024 – May 31, 2027

2. Additional 2-Year Term
• 50 MW up to 115 MW
• June 1, 2027 – May 31, 2029

www.KYMEA.org
Page 46 of 78



Action

8/22/2023 www.KYMEA.org 4

Board Requested Action
• Staff recommends the KYMEA Board approve the Capacity 

and Energy RFP.

Page 47 of 78



 RESOLUTION 
 

 WHEREAS, the Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency (“KYMEA”) proposes to issue a 

request for proposals (“RFP”) to qualified suppliers of electric intermediate capacity and energy 

resources beginning June 1, 2024, to provide KYMEA with energy for its AR Project portfolio 

and power supply, and  

 

 WHEREAS, the RFP requests interested parties to present proposals under the provisions 

of KRS 45A.370 for intermediate capacity and energy resources; and  

 

 WHEREAS, KYMEA will evaluate each proposal to determine which proposal will 

provide intermediate capacity and energy resources that are most advantageous to KYMEA and 

its Members; and   

 

 WHEREAS, competitive sealed bidding is not feasible for procuring the intermediate 

capacity and energy resources required by KYMEA and because specifications cannot be made 

sufficiently specific to permit an award on the basis of either the lowest bid price or the lowest 

evaluated bid price and because the procurement is for nonstandard supplies and services and 

requires technical review and discussions; 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 

 

 That pursuant to KRS 45A.370(1)(a), and as set forth in the recitals above, KYMEA hereby 

finds and determines, and has found and determined, that competitive sealed bidding is not feasible 

in the procurement of intermediate capacity and energy resources, and that it is most advantageous 

for KYMEA, and in its best interests and the interests of its Members, to solicit proposals through 

competitive negotiation through the issuance of the RFP and to issue any addendum or addenda to 

the RFP, as may be necessary or desirable. 

 

 

Page 48 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

  
 

  

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) 
 
      

KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy 
Procurement - Delivery beginning June 1, 2024  

  
RFP # 2023-2 

August 25, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 

The Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency (KYMEA) seeks written proposals from qualified 
suppliers of electric intermediate capacity and energy resources. KYMEA intends to 
purchase power from one or more suppliers commencing on June 1, 2024 for a term of 3 
to 5 years. Resources should: (i) be deliverable on a firm, non-interruptible basis to the 
LGE/KU transmission system, (ii) be delivered to KYMEA on a first call basis and not be 
committed for sale to third parties, and (iii) qualify for designation as network resources 
under the LGE/KU Open Access Transmission Tariff (“OATT”) to serve the loads of KYMEA’s 
Member municipal electric systems. 
 
Proposers are required to submit by email their questions pertaining to this RFP no later 
than 2 pm EDT on September 8, 2023 and their proposals no later than 2 pm EDT on 
October 9, 2023, and meet other requirements specified in this RFP. 
 
All communications regarding this RFP should be directed to Rob Leesman 
rleesman@kymea.org. Communications with KYMEA Board Members and other 
representatives of KYMEA and its Members may result in disqualification as more 
completely provided in the RFP. 

Page 49 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

Introduction to KYMEA and this RFP 
 
The Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency (KYMEA), formed pursuant to Sections 65.210 to 
65.300 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes, as amended, known as the "Interlocal Cooperation 
Act" (the "Act"), seeks written proposals from qualified suppliers of electric capacity and 
energy produced from intermediate capacity resources ("Proposal"). KYMEA intends to 
purchase power from various suppliers commencing on June 1, 2024 for a term of 3 to 5 
years. Resources should: (i) be deliverable on a firm, non-interruptible basis to the LGE/KU 
transmission system, (ii) be delivered to KYMEA on a first call basis and not be committed for 
sale to third parties, and (iii) qualify for designation as network resources under the LGE/KU 
Open Access Transmission Tariff ("OATT") to serve the loads of KYMEA's Member municipal 
electric systems. KYMEA anticipates economically dispatching available resources to serve 
the combined load of its Members. 
 
KYMEA supplies all requirements service to the following KYMEA Members (AR Members): at 
the present time the Cities of Bardwell, Falmouth, Madisonville, Paris, and Providence, the 
Frankfort Plant Board, the Barbourville Utility Commission, and the Corbin City Utilities 
Commission. The annual demand and energy requirements of the KYMEA AR Members are 
projected to be approximately 259 MW and 1,307,961 MWhs, respectively, in 2023. 
 
This RFP requires submittal of data that will be required to screen alternatives to determine 
if competitive negotiations should be undertaken with one or more Proposers. 
 
Negotiation Procedure - RFP Form 1 
 
This RFP will be conducted under the provisions of the Kentucky Model Procurement Code, 
specifically Kentucky Revised Statutes 45A.370 titled Competitive Negotiation. Written or oral 
discussions will be conducted with the responsible Proposers whose proposals are 
determined in writing by KYMEA or its consultants to be reasonably susceptible of being 
selected for award based on qualifications and the evaluation factors provided in the RFP. 
  
Any award granted hereunder is subject to KYMEA's successful negotiation of any remaining 
unresolved terms to be included in a final power purchase agreement(s) with a responsible 
Proposer(s) in order to achieve the best and most advantageous terms and conditions for 
KYMEA and its Members relating to energy from electric capacity and intermediate capacity 
resources. 
 
Proposer understands that KYMEA reserves the right to make an award on the basis of initial 
proposals without discussions, subject to the successful negotiation of a final power purchase 
agreement. 
 

Page 50 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

Proposers are required to submit with their Proposals a completed copy of the Notice of 
Negotiation Procedure, RFP Form 1, in acknowledgment of their understanding and 
acceptance of this negotiation procedure. 
 
Qualification of Proposers – RFP Form 2  
 
KYMEA anticipates that successful Proposers will have the following characteristics. KYMEA 
reserves the right, but is not required, to reject Proposals from Proposers that do not possess 
the characteristics outlined below. 

a) Proposers that are either an investor-owned utility, exempt wholesale 
generator, municipal electric utility or joint action agency, electric 
cooperative, or wholesale power marketing firm with the authority to do 
business in the Commonwealth of Kentucky; 

b) Proposers that have a BBB or above credit rating by a minimum of two 
established credit rating agencies (Standard and Poor's, Fitch, or Moody's). 
Proposers whose ratings are below BBB may be considered so long as 
additional credit assurance acceptable to KYMEA is provided; 

c) Proposers that have performance bonding capabilities greater than $10 
million; 

d) Proposers that are able to demonstrate rights to physical electric generation 
units proposed for the electric power supply to KYMEA; 

e) Proposers that own or currently have contractual rights to all physical 
resources from which power would be supplied to KYMEA; and 

f) Proposers whose resources qualify or can qualify as a designated network 
resource(s) under the LGE/KU OATT. 

All Proposers are required to submit to KYMEA with their Proposals a completed Qualification 
of Proposers form. The Qualification of Proposers form is included as RFP Form 2.  
 
Communications regarding this RFP and Submission of Proposals, Data, and Forms 
 

From the date this RFP is advertised until a notice of recommended award, notice of rejection 
of all Proposals or other notice is made, Proposers are required to confine all communication 
related to this RFP exclusively to the contact person at Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency 
specified below and any other representatives designated by that person. Unless authorized 
in advance, no contact related to the RFP will be permitted between a Proposer, its 
employees, representatives, or affiliates and any board member, officer, official, director, 
employee, representative, or other staff of KYMEA or any of the municipals that are, or are 
considering becoming, Members of KYMEA. Any unauthorized contact will be the basis for 
disqualification of the Proposer from further consideration. 
 

Page 51 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

All questions regarding this RFP, technical or otherwise, should be submitted electronically 
by e-mail in accordance with the RFP Schedule below to: 

KYMEA Power Supply RFP 
c/o Rob Leesman 
E-mail: rleesman@KYMEA.org 
   

Only responses provided in writing by KYMEA will be considered official. A verbal response 
by KYMEA will not be considered an official response. Responses to questions determined by 
KYMEA, at its sole discretion, to be applicable to the RFP process in general and all published 
addenda will be provided on the KYMEA website at www.kymea.org/information/request-
for-proposals/. Questions, answers, and addenda will be communicated in electronic form. 
 
If discussions pertaining to the revision of the specifications or quantities are held with any 
potential Proposer, all other potential Proposers shall be afforded an opportunity to take part 
in such discussions. At KYMEA's sole discretion, a Request for Proposals based on revised 
specifications or quantities may then be issued as promptly as possible, shall provide for an 
expeditious response to the revised requirements, and shall be awarded upon the basis of 
the best overall benefit to KYMEA determined by applying the criteria set forth in the Request 
for Proposals. 
 
Each Proposer is free to determine the format of the Proposal. Proposers should provide all 
information requested in this RFP. Each Proposal, with Forms 1 and 2, must be submitted by 
email to the following address by the date shown below under the heading "RFP Schedule."  

 
KYMEA Power Supply RFP 
c/o Rob Leesman 
Email: rleesman@KYMEA.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52 of 78

mailto:johnpainter@nfrontconsulting.com
mailto:johnpainter@nfrontconsulting.com


Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

RFP Schedule 
 

The timetable for this RFP process is shown below. The dates and times set forth below may 
be changed at any time at the discretion of KYMEA. All deadlines for submittals due from 
Proposers are specified in Eastern Daylight Time ("EDT"). 

 

Milestone Due Date 

Release of RFP by KYMEA August 25, 2023 

Proposers submit questions regarding the RFP 

By Email to: rleesman@KYMEA.org 

 

2:00 PM Eastern on September 8, 2023 

Proposal Submission 
(Include, as part of the Proposal, Forms 1 and 2 
and all supporting data and information) 

By Email to rleesman@KYMEA.org  

 
 
 
2:00 PM Eastern on October 9, 2023 

 

After receipt of Proposals, KYMEA intends to request any clarification deemed necessary and 
then perform screening and other analyses. Further discussions and, if appropriate, 
negotiations will then be initiated with a Proposer(s) deemed reasonably susceptible of being 
selected for award with the goal that contract terms can be finalized and contracts executed 
as early as 120 days after submission of Proposals. 
 
KYMEA will include in the power purchase agreement certain conditions precedent to its 
obligations to purchase and pay for any capacity and energy. Those conditions precedent will 
include, without limitation: 
 

1. Completing the process of designating the Proposer's resources as network resources 
for the service of the loads of KYMEA's Members and making such other transmission 
arrangements as are necessary under terms that are acceptable to KYMEA. 

 

Page 53 of 78

mailto:rleesman@KYMEA.org
mailto:rleesman@KYMEA.org


Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

KYMEA anticipates that the purchase of power from successful Proposers will commence on 
June 1, 2024. 
 
Acceptance and Disqualification of Proposals 
 
KYMEA reserves the right to accept the Proposal(s) that, in its sole judgment, best meet the 
needs and objectives of KYMEA and its members, to reject any and all Proposals, and to waive 
irregularities and formalities in any Proposal that is submitted. 
 
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, KYMEA may accept or reject Proposals that 
are incomplete or irregular, omit any item that the RFP requires, or do not include timely 
submittal of all required RFP information and forms.  
 
Proposer may submit Proposals that may deviate from the specific requirements of the RFP. 
KYMEA at its sole discretion may accept and evaluate, or disqualify, any non-conforming 
Proposals received. 

Reserved Rights of KYMEA 

At any stage in the RFP process, KYMEA reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to: 

a) Accept or reject any and/or all conforming or non-conforming Proposals received 
in response to this RFP; 

b) Waive any individual Proposal requirement if deemed in KYMEA's best interest; 

c) Accept multiple or no Proposals; 

d) Accept quantities and terms different from those sought in the RFP upon mutual 
agreement of KYMEA and the Proposer; 

e) Accept or reject any Proposals received after the submittal deadlines; 

f) Accept or reject any Proposal if the Proposer fails to fully complete and timely 
submit all required RFP Forms; 

g) Not disclose information which KYMEA has determine may be confidential or may 
be subject to a non-disclosure or confidentiality agreement between KYMEA and 
a Proposer; 

h) Negotiate arrangements for power supply with one or more Proposers;  

i) Request clarifications from Proposers at any time; 

j) Amend this RFP at any time; 

k) Cease negotiations with any or all Proposers at any time; 

l) Set deadlines for completing negotiations of agreements; and  

Page 54 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

7 | P a g e  
 

m) Disqualify a Proposer during the negotiations for failing to honor the terms of the 
RFP or those contained in its Proposal. 

Confidentiality of Information 

KYMEA anticipates taking reasonable steps consistent with applicable Kentucky law relating 
to governmental agencies and open records requests to maintain the confidentiality of 
proposed pricing and other commercially sensitive information provided by Proposers, 
including, upon request of a Proposer, entering into a non-disclosure agreement (NDA) 
acceptable to KYMEA. The form of an acceptable Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure 
Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit A.  

 
Power Supply Resources Sought by KYMEA 
 
The purpose of this RFP is to solicit Proposals for physically firm capacity and energy resources 
suitable to economically serve intermediate loads of KYMEA Members and such other uses 
as KYMEA may deem appropriate. KYMEA seeks Proposals for resources that can be 
dispatched by KYMEA limited solely by the availability of said resources. Resources should: (i) 
be deliverable on a firm, non-interruptible basis to the LGE/KU transmission system, (ii) not 
be committed for sale to third parties, and (iii) qualify for designation as network resources 
under the LGE/KU OATT to serve the loads of KYMEA's Member municipal electric systems.  
 
Term  
 
The initial power supply delivery term proposed may range from a minimum of 3 years to a 
maximum of 5 years in duration, with power supply delivery to begin on June 1, 2024. The 
annual term will correspond to a June 1 through May 31 planning year. 
 
If a Proposal offers a range of terms between 3 to 5 years, KYMEA may unilaterally select the 
term it determines is most suitable.  
 
Capacity  
 
Proposals may be submitted for physical intermediate resources such as the following 
resource categories.  
 

a) Slice of System; 

b) Natural Gas Combustion Turbines; or 

Page 55 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

8 | P a g e  
 

• Virtual1 Natural Gas Combustion Turbines; 

c) Natural Gas Combined Cycle; 

• Virtual1 Natural Gas Combined Cycle; 

d) Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engines;  

• Virtual1 Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engines; 

e) Hydroelectric Plants; 

f) Steam-Coal; or 

g) Other intermediate resources with similar cost and operating characteristics. 

Proposers may propose a specific amount of capacity or indicate that the amount of capacity 
to be purchased would be within a range from 50 MW to 115 MW, with the specific amount 
to be determined during negotiation of the power purchase agreement. 
 

Capacity MW PY24/25 PY25/26 PY26/27 PY27/28 PY28/29 
Minimum 50 50 50 50 50 
Maximum 115 115 115 115 115 

 
Physical capacity resources may be individual designated units, designated stations, or 
Proposer's clearly identified system resources.  
 

1. Purchase Power Agreement Capacity Prices shall be submitted using one of two 
pricing methods. All capacity prices provided should be on a "dollars per MW–month" 
basis. Permissible pricing methods are as follows.  

 
a) Fixed Price: Fixed prices may be for the total term proposed or fixed for specified 

time periods (e.g., by year);  
 

b) Escalated Price: Proposed prices may escalate at a fixed annual percentage or by 
an index applied to a fixed price for the base year beginning June 1, 2024. 

 
1 Virtual units are defined as any type of physical resource that is both priced and contractually provides 
attributes (scheduling, ramp rates, heat rates, fuel type, etc) that the traditional physical resource typically would 
provide including accredited capacity accessible during Max Gen Events - EEA. 

 

Page 56 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

9 | P a g e  
 

Energy  
 
Proposals should clearly specify the basis for determining KYMEA's entitlements to energy 
from the Proposer's resource(s).  
 
KYMEA anticipates that its entitlements to the energy available from the Proposer's 
resource(s) in all hours will be proportionate to the amount of capacity purchased from the 
resource(s).  The portion of KYMEA's load to be served would require one or more resources 
that can be economically used to supply energy at an expected capacity factor between 30% 
and 50% dependent upon the energy cost or dispatch price of the resource(s). 
 
Energy pricing is expected to be provided on a dollars per MWh basis that may include: (i) a 
commodity cost based on reasonable actual costs, contract prices, or an index in $/MMBtu 
times a net heat rate and (ii) a variable cost adder, if applicable. 
 
If Proposer is providing delivered natural gas, KYMEA prefers that the commodity cost for 
natural gas be tied to commodity prices at a nationally recognized liquid trading hub plus a 
specified amount for transportation and/or a cost or market basis for the calculation of 
transportation to the physical location of the proposed resource(s). Natural gas 
transportation or basis can be set as a fixed price, a fixed price with escalation, or indexed to 
a value defined by the tariff of the natural gas transportation provider or a secondary market 
pricing indicator. Unless otherwise stated by Proposer, KYMEA assumes the right to provide 
its own delivered fuel to the proposed resource(s). Proposer shall provide additional 
information related to the natural gas commodity procurement and transportation strategy 
upon request of KYMEA.  
 
Heat rate for energy billing purposes may be specified as a fixed or contract net heat rate or 
as an actual net heat rate, calculated on a Higher Heating Value basis. If an actual net heat 
rate is proposed, KYMEA prefers a not-to-exceed limit be specified in the Proposal.  
 
Variable cost adders, in $/MWh, may be specified as fixed for the term of the Proposal, 
escalated based on a fixed escalation rate applied to a fixed price for the year beginning June 
1, 2024, or escalated as based on a proposed escalation index applied to a fixed price for the 
year beginning June 1, 2024, or cost-based. If cost-based prices are proposed, KYMEA prefers 
that not-to-exceed prices also be specified in the Proposal.  
 
If variable cost adders include emission-related pricing and/or costs, Proposers shall include 
information to indicate the price or cost of each effluent included in the variable cost adder, 
and Proposers shall furnish information on emission rate by effluent for each physical 
resource being proposed. Proposer shall specify the pricing method for any emission 
allowances that may be included in the variable cost adder. Unless otherwise specified by 

Page 57 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

10 | P a g e  
 

Proposer, KYMEA reserves the right, but not the requirement, to provide emissions 
allowances for energy it schedules and receives.  
 
Unless included in the variable cost adder, startup costs, if applicable, should be delineated 
as a separate cost.  
 
Proposer should provide a detailed explanation of the proposed method of energy pricing.  
 
Delivery of Resources  
 
KYMEA is soliciting Proposals for physically firm resources that can be delivered to the LGE/KU 
transmission system on a firm, non-interruptible basis and are capable of qualifying as 
designated network resources under the LGE/KU OATT. It is KYMEA's preference that 
Proposers designate points of delivery within the LGE/KU system or at the interfaces between 
the LGE/KU transmission system and neighboring transmission systems. However, KYMEA is 
willing to consider resources that would be delivered to points of delivery on a neighboring 
transmission system.  
 
Proposers should clearly identify the delivery point for each resource proposed. For resources 
delivered to points on a neighboring transmission system, the Proposer should identify the 
RTO region, node, and physical location of the delivery point proposed. Qualifying Proposals 
for resources delivered to points on a neighboring transmission system will be evaluated 
considering allowances for the additional costs of transmission service charges, transmission 
upgrades, congestion and losses on the neighboring transmission system, as appropriate.  
 
Energy Scheduling and Dispatch  
 
Proposer shall specify scheduling options available to KYMEA. Scheduling options shall be 
specified as either day ahead, day ahead with intra-day hourly adjustments to schedule, or 
other scheduling options that may provide additional scheduling flexibility to KYMEA. KYMEA 
assumes it will have unlimited remarketing capabilities for capacity and energy purchased 
from the Proposer. 
 
Proposer shall specify any limitation on KYMEA's use of capacity and energy for re-marketing.  
 
  

Page 58 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

11 | P a g e  
 

Availability  
 
Proposer is requested to provide five-year historical NERC GADS Equivalent Availability, 
Equivalent Forced Outage Rate, and Scheduled Outage Factor statistics for each physical 
resource proposed.  
 
Proposers may specify any or no level of availability guarantee. KYMEA will evaluate 
qualifying Proposals using availability criteria determined to be the most advantageous to 
KYMEA. 
 
Proposers that elect to provide a contractual availability guarantee should propose a method 
for compensating KYMEA, should the availability guarantee level not be achieved, using the 
following options.  
 

1. Proposer may commit to provide delivered replacement energy at the lower of actual 
market price or contract energy rate to avoid availability guarantee penalties.  

 
2. Proposer may specify a capacity payment reduction or other financial compensation 

based on an amount per percentage point below the guaranteed availability 
percentage level.  

 
If a contractual availability guarantee is not proposed, KYMEA will evaluate the availability-
based component of the Proposal evaluated based on the actual historical performance in 
comparison to the criteria established by KYMEA.  
 
Proposer should confirm that any availability-based reductions in energy scheduled by 
KYMEA will be implemented on a non-discriminatory, pro-rata basis.  
 
Proposal Commitment  
 
Proposer must hold its Proposal provisions firm for a minimum of 120 days after the date the 
Proposal is submitted to KYMEA.  
 
Evaluation of Proposals  
 
The evaluation of Proposals submitted in response to this RFP will consider the impact of a 
Proposal on the KYMEA Members' total net cost of power on a present value basis and over 
the potential term of the transaction. 
 
Projections of a Proposal's impact on the Members' net costs of power may include, but not 
be limited to, consideration of the proposed price for capacity and energy, costs of energy 

Page 59 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

12 | P a g e  
 

during periods when the proposed resource is not fully available, transmission related costs 
(including congestion and losses on other systems), environmental costs, and fuel costs. 
KYMEA's consideration of a Proposal also may qualitatively and/or quantitatively consider: (i) 
risks that actual costs may be higher than projected; (ii) uncertainties that may impact the 
ability of the respondent to perform as proposed; (iii) flexibility and optionality that may be 
provided to KYMEA; and (iv) the potential volatility relative to other options in the projected 
costs of the Proposal. The information provided in the Proposal regarding capacity offered, 
capacity and energy pricing, scheduling, constraints, type(s) of fuel, expected availability, 
availability guarantees, and delivery point(s) proposed will be used in the development of the 
above described analysis. KYMEA also will make assumptions regarding, and use forecasts of, 
fuel, market prices for capacity and energy, and environmental compliance requirements in 
performing the evaluation.  
 
Consistent with the above, the factors to be considered in the evaluation, in declining order 
of relative importance, are the following:  
 

1. Projected net cost of power over the potential term of the transaction using the 
criteria and methodology stated above;  
 

2. Scheduling flexibility and other optionality afforded to KYMEA under the Proposal;  
 

3. Uncertainties concerning performance and availability;  
 

4. Uncertainties concerning transmission arrangements required for delivery as a 
designated network resource on the LGE/KU system;  
 

5. Uncertainties concerning commencement of the transaction by June 1, 2024;  
 

6. Creditworthiness; and  
 

7. Location of the Proposer's resources.  
 

KYMEA reserves the unilateral right to make all decisions and judgments as to the assessment 
of all Proposals, the appropriate assumptions to be used in the analyses, and the weight to 
be given to each factor.  
 
This RFP will be conducted under the provisions of the Kentucky Model Procurement Code, 
specifically Kentucky Revised Statutes 45A.370 titled Competitive Negotiation. Written or oral 
discussions will be conducted with the responsible Proposers whose proposals are 
determined in writing by KYMEA or its consultants to be reasonably susceptible of being 
selected for award based on qualifications and the evaluation factors provided in the RFP.  

Page 60 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP # 2023-2 
 

13 | P a g e  
 

Any award granted hereunder is subject to KYMEA's successful negotiation of any remaining 
unresolved terms to be included in a final power purchase agreement(s) with a responsible 
Proposer(s) in order to achieve the best and most advantageous terms and conditions for 
KYMEA and its Members relating to intermediate capacity and energy.  
 
Proposer understands that KYMEA reserves the right to make an award on the basis of initial 
proposals without discussions, subject to the successful negotiation of a final power purchase 
agreement.  
 
Non-conforming Proposals  
 
Proposers are not precluded from submitting Proposals for alternatives outside of the specific 
requirements of this RFP for KYMEA's potential consideration. 
 
KYMEA reserves the right, but has no obligation, to evaluate and qualify any such non-
conforming Proposals as it may determine, in its sole discretion, to be in its interest to 
consider. Any Proposals not meeting the requirements of this RFP are subject to 
disqualification.  
 
Other Considerations and Requirements  
 
Consistent with KRS 45A.494, Kentucky resident preference will be a consideration in the 
evaluation of qualified Proposals.  
 
A duly authorized representative of the Proposer must sign all Proposal documents.  
 
Basis of Award  
 
If an award is made, it shall be made to the responsible Proposer or Proposers whose proposal 
is determined in writing to be the most advantageous to KYMEA based upon the evaluation 
factors set forth in the RFP and the reciprocal preference for resident bidders required by KRS 
45A.494, provided, however, any award made hereunder by KYMEA shall be subject to 
KYMEA's successful negotiation of a final power purchase agreement(s) in order to achieve 
terms and conditions which are determined by KYMEA, in its sole discretion, to be most 
advantageous to KYMEA and its Members based upon the evaluation factors set forth in the 
RFP. 
 

Page 61 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP Form 1:  NOTICE OF NEGOTIATION PROCEDURE 
 

14 | P a g e  
 

The undersigned Proposer, having read and examined the specifications and documents for the 
designated goods and/or services requested under this RFP, hereby acknowledges that this RFP 
will be conducted under the provisions of the Kentucky Model Procurement Code, specifically 
Kentucky Revised Statutes 45A.370 titled Competitive Negotiation.  
 
Written or oral discussions will be conducted with the responsible Proposers whose proposals are 
determined in writing by KYMEA or its consultants to be reasonably susceptible of being selected 
for award based on qualifications and the evaluation factors provided in the RFP.  
 
Any award granted hereunder is subject to KYMEA's successful negotiation of any remaining 
unresolved terms to be included in a final power purchase agreement(s) with a responsible 
Proposer(s) in order to achieve the best and most advantageous terms and conditions for KYMEA 
and its Members relating to intermediate capacity and energy.  
 
Proposer understands that KYMEA reserves the right to make an award on the basis of initial 
proposals without discussions, subject to the successful negotiation of a final power purchase 
agreement.  
 
The undersigned acknowledges and understands that if all Proposers are rejected, KYMEA has the 
option of seeking Proposals through a subsequent RFP process.  
 
From the date this RFP is advertised until a notice of recommended award, notice of rejection of 
all Proposals or other notice is made, Proposers are required to confine all communication related 
to this RFP exclusively to the contact person at Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency specified below 
and any other representatives designated by that person. Unless authorized in advance, no contact 
related to the RFP, will be permitted between a Proposer, its employees, representatives, or 
affiliates and any board member, officer, official, director, employee, representative or other staff 
of KYMEA or any of the municipals that are, or are considering becoming, Members of KYMEA. Any 
unauthorized contact will be the basis for disqualification of the Proposer from further 
consideration. 
 
All Proposals are subject to all other specifications and requirements provided for in this RFP. 

Name of Company ______________________________________________ 
 

Authorized Signature ______________________________________________ 

Printed Name ______________________________________________ 

Title ______________________________________________ 

Date ______________________________________________ 

Page 62 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

RFP Form 2:  QUALIFICATION OF PROPOSERS 
 
 

15 | P a g e  
 

Company Name: __________________________________ 
  
Company Contact Information  
 Name __________________________________ 
 Title __________________________________ 
 Address 1 __________________________________ 
 Address 1 __________________________________ 
 City, State, Zip __________________________________ 
 Email: __________________________________ 
 Phone number: __________________________________ 
  

Classification of Company:  
 Investor Owned Utility Check if Yes ____________  
 Municipal Utility Check if Yes ____________  
 Electric Cooperative Check if Yes ____________  
 Wholesale Power Marketer Check if Yes ____________  
  

Licensed in Kentucky: Yes ____________ No: _______________ 

Number of Years in Business: __________________ 
Current Credit Rating:  _____ Standard and Poor's 
 _____ Moody’s 
 _____ Fitch 
Bonding Capability ____________ Million 
  

Proposer owns or currently has contractual rights to all physical 
resources from which power would be supplied to KYMEA  Yes ____________ No: _______________ 

Each proposed resource that will require transmission service 
can qualify for designation as a network resource for the 
service of the loads of KYMEA's member municipal electric 
systems 

Yes ____________ No: _______________ 

Each proposed resource currently qualifies as a network 
resource for the service of a load serving entity directly 
connected to the LGE/KU transmission system. 

Yes ____________ No: _______________ 
If Yes, specify load serving entity: 
__________________________________ 

  
Authorized Signature of Proposer: __________________________________ 
Printed Name __________________________________ 
Date __________________________________ 

Page 63 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

INSTRUCTIONS FOR PROPOSALS 

16 | P a g e  
 

 
Please provide a Proposal that addresses each of the topics described in the RFP. Proposers 
are requested, but not required, to present their proposals in the format outlined below 
to the extent applicable.  
 
KYMEA requests that each Proposal include at least the level of detail normally included in 
a Term Sheet. 
 

Item Provision 

1. Seller  

2. Buyer KYMEA 

3. Product Description 
(Attributes) 

 

4. Term of Agreement  

5. Capacity Amount by Year  

6. Installed Capacity Amount by 
Year 

 

7. Flexibility of KYMEA to Adjust 
Capacity Amount during 
Negotiations or during the 
term of the transaction 

 

8. Capacity Price 
a. Price by Component 
b. Escalation  
c. Not to Exceed 

 

9. Energy Price (Cost components 
as applicable) 

a. Heat Rate 
b. Fuel Commodity 
c. Transportation 
d. Variable O&M rate 
e. Start-up 
f. Environmental 
g. Not to Exceed 

 

10. PPA Delivery Point  

Page 64 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

INSTRUCTIONS FOR PROPOSALS 

17 | P a g e  
 

Item Provision 

11. Project Interconnection Point  

12. Arrangements for transmitting 
power from the point of 
interconnection to the delivery 
point. 

 

13. Scheduling 
a. Day Ahead 
b. Intra-Day 

 

14. Ancillary Services   

15. Availability  

16. Pricing, Notice and Other 
Provisions pertaining to any 
proposed option for KYMEA to 
extend the term of the 
transaction beyond the initial 
term 

 

17. Pricing, Notice, Grant 
Applicability, and Other 
Provisions pertaining to any 
proposed option or 
requirement for KYMEA to 
assume ownership of all or a 
portion of the project 

 

18. Other considerations  

 
Note: Please provide the historical data listed on the following page for the most recent 5-
year period for which data is available. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65 of 78



Request for Proposals 
KYMEA Intermediate Capacity and Energy Procurement  

INSTRUCTIONS FOR PROPOSALS 

18 | P a g e  
 

   Calendar Years 
Line 
No.  Units 1 2 3 4 5 

  Year →      
 Resource       
1 Name Name      

2 Summer Capacity 
Rating MW      

3 Annual Energy 
Production MWh      

4 Average Net Heat Rate 
(HHV) Btu/kWh      

 Actual Energy 
Costs       

5 Fuel Commodity $/MMBtu      
6 Fuel Transportation $/MMBtu      
7 Emissions Component $/MMBtu      
8 Other Components $/MMBtu      
        
9 Total $/MMBtu      
        
10 Variable O&M $/MWh      

 Performance 
Based on GADS       

11 EFOR %      
12 SOF %      
13 EAF %      
14 Capacity Factor %      
        
Comments (by line number) 
1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  

 

Page 66 of 78



 EXHIBIT A 

CONFIDENTIALITY AND NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

 This Confidentiality and Non-disclosure Agreement (this “Agreement”), dated 
_________________, is entered into between Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency with offices 
at 1700 Eastpoint Parkway, Suite 220, Louisville, Kentucky 40223  (“Receiving Party”) and 
_____________________________________________________________ with offices at 
_____________________________________________________________ (“Disclosing 
Party”), collectively referred to as the (“Parties”).   

Background Statement 
 

 Receiving Party has had and desires to have confidential discussions with Disclosing 
Party in connection with the evaluation of proposed transactions between Disclosing Party and 
Receiving Party provided by Disclosing Party in response to the Request for Proposals from 
Receiving Party dated _________________ (“Proposed Transactions”).   The Parties 
acknowledge that Receiving Party will be receiving, reviewing, and analyzing information with 
respect to Proposed Transactions that is highly confidential, proprietary, or otherwise not 
publicly available.  Receiving Party and Disclosing Party have entered into this Agreement to 
establish terms and conditions applicable to the exchange of Confidential Information in 
connection with the Proposed Transactions. 

Agreement 
 

 1. Non-disclosure of Confidential Information.  Confidential Information will be 
kept strictly confidential by Receiving Party.  Confidential Information may, however, be 
disclosed by Receiving Party to its directors, officers, employees, attorneys, consultants and 
financial advisors (collectively, “Representatives”), but only if such Representatives (i) need to 
know the Confidential Information in connection with Receiving Party’s evaluation of Proposed 
Transactions, and (ii) such Representatives agree to be bound by the terms of this Agreement.  
Receiving Party shall not disclose the Confidential Information to any person other than as 
expressly permitted by this Agreement, and shall safeguard the Confidential Information from 
unauthorized disclosure.  Receiving Party shall use the Confidential Information solely for the 
purpose of evaluating Proposed Transactions and for no other purpose. Notwithstanding the 
disclosure of the Confidential Information to any Representatives, Receiving Party shall remain 
liable for any breach of this Agreement by any of its Representatives.   

 2. Notice Preceding Required Disclosure.  If Receiving Party or its Representatives 
are requested or required (by oral question, interrogatories, requests for information or 
documents, subpoena, civil investigative demand, regulatory proceedings, stock exchange rules, 
or other applicable rules or regulations or similar process) to disclose any Confidential 
Information, Receiving Party shall promptly notify Disclosing Party of such request or 
requirement so that Disclosing Party may seek an appropriate protective order or waive 

Page 67 of 78



compliance with this Agreement.  If, in the absence of a protective order or the receipt of an 
express waiver under this Agreement, Receiving Party or its Representatives are, in the opinion 
of legal counsel, required to disclose the Confidential Information, Receiving Party or its 
Representatives may disclose only such of the Confidential Information to the party requiring 
disclosure as, in the opinion of legal counsel, is required by applicable law, rule or regulation 
and, in connection with such disclosure, Receiving Party and its Representatives shall use 
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain confidential treatment to such portion of the  
Confidential Information as is disclosed. 

 3. Definition of “Confidential Information”.  As used in this Agreement, 
“Confidential Information” means any and all information that is furnished, before or after the 
date hereof, to Receiving Party or its Representatives by Disclosing Party or otherwise that 
relates to or concerns Proposed Transactions or the Disclosing Party and its affiliates, including, 
but not limited to, the fact that Confidential Information has been made available to the 
Receiving Party, the fact that discussions relating to this Agreement or relating to Proposed 
Transactions is taking place, and the existence of this Agreement.  Any information furnished to 
Receiving Party or its Representatives by a director, officer, employee, member, partner, lender, 
consultant, agent, or other representative of Disclosing Party will be deemed furnished by 
Disclosing Party for the purpose of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
following does not constitute Confidential Information for purposes of this Agreement:  
(i) information that is or becomes publicly available other than as a result of a disclosure by 
Receiving Party in breach of this Agreement or other obligation of confidentiality; 
(ii) information that was already known to Receiving Party on a non-confidential basis prior to 
being furnished to Receiving Party by Disclosing Party; (iii) information that becomes available 
to Receiving Party on a non-confidential basis from a source other than Disclosing Party or a 
representative of Disclosing Party if such source, to Receiving Party’s knowledge, is neither 
subject to any prohibition against transmitting the information to Receiving Party nor bound by a 
confidentiality agreement with Disclosing Party; and (iv) information that is independently 
developed by Receiving Party without use of or reference to Confidential Information. 

 4. Return of Information. Confidential Information will remain the property of 
Disclosing Party.  Upon request of the Disclosing Party, confidential Information, and any copies 
thereof, will be returned to Disclosing Party or destroyed immediately upon Disclosing Party’s 
request. . Unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties, the Receiving Party or its Representatives 
may retain one record copy for their files. Any Confidential Information so retained shall remain 
subject to this Agreement without regard to Section 7 hereof.    

 5. No Waiver.  No failure or delay in exercising any right, power, or privilege 
hereunder will operate as a waiver thereof, nor will any single or partial exercise thereof preclude 
any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power, or privilege 
hereunder. 

Page 68 of 78



 6. Remedies.  Because money damages may not be a sufficient remedy for a breach 
of this Agreement by Receiving Party or its Representatives, Disclosing Party shall be entitled to 
seek specific performance and injunctive relief as remedies for any such breach or threatened 
breach.  Such remedies will not be deemed to be the exclusive remedies for a breach of this 
Agreement by Receiving Party or any of its Representatives but will be in addition to all other 
remedies available to Disclosing Party at law or in equity.   

 7. Term.  Except as otherwise provided in Section 4, this Agreement shall terminate 
on the date that is two (2) years from the date first written above.  

 8.   No Representations or Warranties.  Neither Disclosing Party nor any of its 
Representatives is making any representation or warranty as to the accuracy, validity or 
completeness of Confidential Information and Disclosing Party shall not be liable to Receiving 
Party or any other party as a result of the use of Confidential Information.   

 9. No Assignment; Successors.  Receiving Party may not assign all or any part of 
this Agreement without Disclosing Party’s prior written consent.  This Agreement inures to the 
benefit of the Parties hereto and their successors and permitted assigns and is binding on each 
other and each other’s successors and permitted assigns.   

 10. Governing Law.  THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE GOVERNED BY AND 
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF 
KENTUCKY, WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CONFLICT OF LAWS PRINCIPLES 
THEREOF THAT WOULD OTHERWISE DIRECT THE APPLICATION OF THE LAWS OF 
A DIFFERENT JURISDICTION. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO AGREES THAT (A) 
ANY LEGAL ACTION BROUGHT HEREUNDER SHALL BE BROUGHT IN THE 
FEDERAL OR STATE COURTS LOCATED WITHIN KENTUCKY AND (B) ANY RIGHT 
OF THE UNDERSIGNED TO TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY CLAIM OR 
ACTION ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT IS WAIVED.   

 11. Entire Agreement; Headings.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.  The headings of the Sections of this 
Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part hereof or affect in any 
way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.  This Agreement may be executed via 
facsimile transmission and may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed to be an original and all of which together shall constitute a single instrument.   

 12. Savings Clause.  If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to 
any person, place, or circumstance, shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid, unenforceable, or void, the remainder of the Agreement and such provisions as applied 
to other persons, places, and circumstances shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

Page 69 of 78



To evidence their acceptance of this Agreement, the Parties’ authorized representatives have 
signed below effective as of the date first specified above. 

 

DISCLOSING PARTY KENTUCKY MUNICIPAL ENERGY 
AGENCY 

 

By:_______________________________  By:_______________________________  

Name: ____________________________  Name:_____________________________ 

Title: _____________________________  Title:______________________________ 

Date:  ____________________________  Date:  _____________________________ 

 

Page 70 of 78



KYMEA Financial Advisor and 
Rice Interconnection and Siting 

Studies
August 24, 2023

8/22/2023 1
KYMEA_Board_FA_RICE_Interconnection_Siting_08-24-2023_R1.pptx

www.KYMEA.org
Page 71 of 78



RICE Action Plan

8/22/2023 2

Seeking Board Approval
1. Baird Financial Advisor Engagement Agreement
 Please Note: Per previous Board action, Baird has served as KYMEA’s
 Independent Registered Municipal Advisor (IRMA) since
 December 12, 2019. 

2. Generation Interconnection Study Request
3. Natural Gas Interconnection Study Request
4. Site Studies for geological and soil issues and Siting 

Board Petition

Note: Board approval authorizes CEO to initiate studies at the 
appropriate juncture in the development process

*** CONFIDENTIAL ***
Page 72 of 78



Action

8/22/2023 www.KYMEA.org 3

Board Requested Action
• Staff recommends the KYMEA Board approve the Financial 

Advisor Engagement Letter and RICE Interconnection and 
Siting Studies.

Page 73 of 78



  

 

July 24, 2023 

 

Mr. Doug Buresh 

Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency 
1700 Eastpoint Parkway, Ste 220 

Louisville, Kentucky 40233 
 
 Re.     Municipal Advisory Services Agreement 

 

Mr. Buresh: 

On behalf of Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated (“we” or “Baird”), we wish to thank you for the opportunity to 
serve as municipal advisor to Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency (“you” or the “Client”) with respect to the 
proposed issuance of approximately $200 million of revenue bonds (the “Securities”), through one or more 
offerings, to finance various electric generation projects (the “Project”). Upon your acceptance, this engagement 
letter (“Agreement”) will establish the mutual terms and conditions under which Baird will provide municipal 
advisory services to the Client in connection with the proposed issuance(s) or other financing (each a “Financing” 
and collectively the “Financings”), effective on the date this Agreement is executed by the Client.  

 

1. Scope of Services.  

  (a) Municipal Advisory Services to be Provided by Baird. The Client hereby engages Baird 
to serve as municipal advisor with respect to the Financings, and in such capacity Baird agrees to provide advice as 
to the structure, timing, terms and other matters regarding the Financings, including the following services, if and as 
requested by the Client: 

• Evaluate possible options, vehicles and structures or alternatives for the Financings 

• Assist the Client in establishing the structure, timing, terms and other similar matters concerning 
the Financings 

• Advise the Client as to the methods and types of Financings that are available and appropriate to 
the Client 

• Assist the Client in developing and designing the terms and features of the plan of Financings and 
prepare the financing schedule(s) 

• Consult and meet with representatives of the Client and its agents or consultants with respect to 
the Financings 

• Review recommendations made by other parties to the Client with respect to the Financings 

• Review financial and other information regarding the Client, the Financings and any source of 
repayment of or security for the Financings 

• Consult with and/or advise the Client on actual or potential changes in marketplace practices, 
market conditions, regulatory requirements or other matters that may have an impact on the Client 
and its financing plans 

• Advise the Client as to strategies for obtaining the Financings, including, if applicable, provide 
information on the differences between a negotiated underwriting and a competitively bid offering 

• Review financial and other information regarding the Client, the Financings and the Project 

Page 74 of 78



 
Page 2 of 4 

• Assist in the preparation and/or review and distribution of documents pertaining to the Financings, 
including, if applicable, the official statement and/or bid package 

• Work with bond counsel and other transaction participants to prepare and/or review necessary 
authorizing documentation of the Client and other documents necessary to finalize and close the 
Financings and the Project 

• Respond to questions and requests from bidders, underwriters or potential investors and other 
possible financing sources 

• If applicable, in a negotiated sale assist in the selection of one or more underwriters for the 
Financings 

• At the time of sale, provide the Client with relevant data on comparable issues recently or 
currently being sold nationally and by comparable clients 

• In a negotiated sale, coordinate pre-pricing discussions, supervise the sale process, advise the 
Client on matters relating to retail or other order periods and syndicate priorities, review the order 
book, advise on the acceptability of the underwriter’s pricing and offer to purchase 

• Advise the Client with respect to recommendations made by the underwriters and other 
interactions between the Client and the underwriters 

• Review required underwriter disclosures to the Client 

• If applicable, arrange and facilitate visits to, and prepare materials for, credit ratings agencies and 
insurers and other liquidity providers 

• Make arrangements for printing, advertising and other vendor services necessary or appropriate in 
connection with the Financings 

• Advise the Client with regard to any continuing disclosure undertaking required to be entered into 
in connection with the Financings, including advising on the selection of a dissemination agent 

• Review recommendations made by other parties to the Client with respect to any actual or 
potential issuance of municipal securities by the Client other than the Financings; provided that 
the review of a third-party recommendation related to a particular actual or potential issuance of 
municipal securities not otherwise considered a Financing shall not result in the Services herein 
being expanded to include all actual or potential issuances of municipal securities that are not 
otherwise considered a Financing. 

• Assist the Client in selecting legal and other professionals (such as trustee, escrow agent, 
accountant, feasibility consultant, etc.) to work on the Financings 

• Prepare a closing memorandum or settlement statement for, and otherwise coordinate or assist 
with, the closing and delivery of the Financings and transfer of funds 

• Such other usual and customary municipal advisory services as may be requested by the Client 

 

 (b) Limitations on Scope of Services.  The Scope of Services is subject to the following 
limitations: 

 

i.) The Scope of Services is limited solely to the services described herein and is subject to any 
limitations set forth within the description of the Scope of Services. 
 

ii.) Unless otherwise provided in the Scope of Services described herein, Baird is not responsible for 
preparing any preliminary or final official statement, or for certifying as to the accuracy or 
completeness of any preliminary or final official statement, other than with respect to any 
information about Baird provided by Baird for inclusion in such documents. 
 

Page 75 of 78



 
Page 3 of 4 

iii.) The Scope of Services does not include tax, legal, accounting or engineering advice with respect 
to any Financing or in connection with any opinion or certificate rendered by counsel or any other 
person at closing and does not include review or advice on any feasibility study. 

 
iv.) Baird will not have the authority to bind, commit or act on behalf of the Client in connection with 

any Financing, or to otherwise act as agent for the Client in the Scope of Services provided. 
 
v.) As municipal advisor, Baird will not be able to provide underwriting or placement agent services 

to the Client in connection with any Financing. 
 
vi.) If the Client has designated Baird as its independent registered municipal advisor (“IRMA”) for 

purposes of SEC Rule 15Ba1-1(d)(3)(vi) (the “IRMA exemption”) with respect to the activities 
described in the Scope of Services, the Scope of Services as they relate to such designation as 
IRMA shall be subject to any limitations with respect to Baird’s activities as IRMA as may be 
provided in the Scope of Services described herein. Baird is not responsible for verifying that it is 
independent (within the meaning of the IRMA exemption as interpreted by the SEC) from another 
party wishing to rely on the exemption from the definition of municipal advisor afforded under the 
IRMA exemption. Any reference to Baird, its personnel and its role as IRMA in the written 
representation of the Client contemplated under SEC Rule 15Ba1-1(d)(3)(vi)(B) is subject to prior 
approval by Baird, and the Client agrees not to represent, publicly or to any specific person, that 
Baird is the Client’s IRMA with respect to any aspect of the issuance of municipal securities, or 
with respect to any specific issuance of municipal securities, outside the Scope of Services without 
Baird’s prior written consent. 

 
 2. Regulatory Duties. Under MSRB Rule G-23, Baird will not be able to serve as underwriter or 
placement agent for any notes, bonds or other securities to be issued and sold as part of the Financings. Baird is 
registered as a municipal advisor with the Securities Exchange Commission and Municipal Securities Rulemaking 
Board.  As municipal advisor to the Client in connection with the proposed Financings, Baird will have fiduciary 
duties, including a duty of care and a duty of loyalty. Baird is required to act in the Client’s best interests without 
regard to its own financial and other interests. 
 
MSRB Rule G-42 requires that Baird make a reasonable inquiry as to the facts that are relevant to the Client’s 
determination whether to proceed with a course of action or that form the basis for any advice provided by Baird to 
the Client. The rule also requires that Baird undertake a reasonable investigation to determine that it is not basing 
any recommendation on materially inaccurate or incomplete information.  Baird is also required under the rule to 
use reasonable diligence to know the essential facts about the Client and the authority of each person acting on the 
Client’s behalf. 
 
The Client agrees to cooperate, and to cause its agents to cooperate, with Baird in carrying out these regulatory 
duties, including providing to Baird accurate and complete information and reasonable access to relevant 
documents, other information and personnel needed to fulfill such duties. In addition, the Client agrees that, to the 
extent the Client seeks to have Baird provide advice with regard to any recommendation made by a third party, the 
Client will provide to Baird written direction to do so as well as any information it has received from such third 
party relating to its recommendation. 
 
 3. Fees and Expenses.  For its municipal advisory services, Baird shall be entitled to a fee equal to 
$2.50 per $1,000 of principal amount of each Financing (the “Municipal Advisory Fee”) to be paid by the Client. 
The Municipal Advisory Fee shall be paid upon completion of each Financing.  While this form of compensation is 
customary in the municipal securities market, it presents a conflict of interest because it may give Baird an incentive 
to recommend to the Client a Financing that is unnecessary or to recommend that the size of a transaction be larger 
than is necessary.   

 4. Term and Termination.  The term of this engagement shall extend from the date of this Agreement to 
the closing of the final Financing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may terminate Baird’s engagement at 
any time without liability of penalty upon at least 30 days’ prior written notice to the other party. 

Page 76 of 78



 
Page 4 of 4 

 5. Limitation of Liability. The Client agrees that neither Baird nor its employees, officers, agents or 
affiliates shall have any liability to the Client in the absence of willful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or 
reckless disregard of obligations or duties hereunder for any act or omission in the course of, or connected with, 
rendering services hereunder, or for any error of judgment or mistake of law, or for any loss arising out of any 
issuance of municipal securities, or for any financial or other damages resulting from the Client’s election to act or 
not to act, as the case may be, contrary to any advice or recommendation provided by Baird to the Client. No 
recourse shall be had against Baird for loss, damage, liability, cost or expense (whether direct, indirect or 
consequential) of the Client arising out of or in defending, prosecuting, negotiating or responding to any inquiry, 
questionnaire, audit, suit, action, or other proceeding brought or received from the Internal Revenue Service in 
connection with any Financing or otherwise relating to the tax treatment of any Financing, or in connection with any 
opinion or certificate rendered by counsel or any other party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained in 
this paragraph or elsewhere in this Agreement shall constitute a waiver by the Client of any of its legal rights under 
applicable U.S. federal securities laws or any other laws whose applicability is not permitted to be contractually 
waived, nor shall it constitute a waiver or diminution of Baird’s fiduciary duty to the Client under Section 15B(c)(1) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder. 

 6. Required Disclosures.  Accompanying this letter is a disclosure document describing the material 
conflicts of interest and information regarding certain legal events and disciplinary history related to the securities 
proposed to be sold in any Financing as required by MSRB Rule G-42. 

 7. Miscellaneous.  This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Kentucky.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Client and 
Baird, their respective successors and permitted assigns; provided however, neither party may assign or transfer any 
of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party.  This Agreement contains 
the entire agreement between the parties relating to the rights granted herein and obligations assumed herein.  This 
Agreement and the Scope of Services provided hereunder may not be amended, supplemented or modified except by 
means of a written instrument executed by both parties hereto.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, 
each of which shall be an original, but which taken together, shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 If there is any aspect of this Agreement that you believe requires further clarification, please do not hesitate to 
contact us.  If the foregoing is consistent with your understanding of our engagement, please sign and return the 
enclosed copy of this Agreement.  The undersigned represents and warrants that he has full legal authority to 
execute this Agreement on behalf of the Client. 

Again, we thank you for the opportunity to assist you with the Financings and the confidence you have placed in us. 

Very truly yours, 

ROBERT W. BAIRD & CO. INCORPORATED 

 

By:__________________________________ 
 Mark Rawlings, Director 

 

 

Accepted this ___ day of _________, 20__ 

KENTUCKY MUNICIPAL ENERGY AGENCY 

 
By:_________________________________ 

 Doug Buresh, President & CEO 

Page 77 of 78



 RESOLUTION 
 

 

 WHEREAS, the Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency ("KYMEA") in order to determine 

the costs associated with the siting, transmission services and natural gas services for a proposed 

RICE Project;  

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE KENTUCKY MUNICIPAL 

ENERGY AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 The KYMEA Board hereby authorizes and directs its President and CEO, Chairman, 

Secretary and other officers to enter into such studies, applications and agreements as may be 

necessary for KYMEA to determine siting costs, obtain transmission services and obtain access 

for the procurement of natural gas as needed for the proposed RICE Project. 

 

Page 78 of 78


	Cover Page
	Agenda
	Meeting Opening
	Attendance
	Call to Order
	Guest Introductions

	Previous Meeting Minutes of the KYMEA Board of Directors
	August 10, 2023 Board Meeting Minutes v1.docx

	Financial Reports
	Committee Reports
	Administration Reports
	CEO 
	KYMEA_Board_Presentation_August_2023_CEO_08-24-2023_R3.pdf

	Market Report
	KYMEA_Board_Presentation_July_2023_Market_Report_08-24-2023 r1.pptx

	Member Communications
	KYMEA_Board_Presentation_August_2023_Member_Communications_08-24-2023.pdf

	CFO Report

	Discussion Topics 
	Action Items
	Energy and Capacity RFP
	KYMEA_Board_Capacity_Energy_RFP_08-24-2023_R1.pdf
	Resolution Making Determinations and Findings relating to Intermediate Capacity and Energy.docx
	KYMEA_Power_Supply_Capacity_Energy_RFP2023-2_08-25-2023.pdf
	KYMEA Form of NDA for RFP 2023.pdf

	Financial Advisor Engagement Letter
	KYMEA_Board_FA_RICE_Interconnection_Siting_08-24-2023_R1.pdf
	KYMEA - 2023 MSRB G-42 Engagement Letter Municipal Advisory Services_mgt edits 2023.07.24 v2.pdf

	RICE Interconnection and Siting Studies
	Resolution Authorizing Execution of Siting, Transmission, Natural Gas Studies and  Agreements for RICE Project.docx


	Public Comments
	Upcoming Meetings and Other Business
	Adjournment 

